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MR. JUSTICE LINDEN:  

Introduction 

1. The issues which I have been asked to decide in this costs and case management 

hearing are:  

i) whether a sampling approach should be adopted to the litigation;  

ii) whether there should a split trial;  

iii) the defendants' application for orders for the provision of further information;  

iv) issues related to the terms of a confidentiality protocol which will apply to 

certain evidence and information in the proceedings;  

v) costs budgeting;  

vi) timetabling and directions for the trial. 

2. Mr. David Craig QC appeared for the claimant with Ms. Rogers and Ms. Taunton and 

Mr. Simon Devonshire QC appeared with Mr. Forshaw for the defendants.  I am 

grateful to both legal teams, including the instructing solicitors, for the thoughtful, 

thorough and helpful way in which their respective positions on the issues were 

presented. I am also grateful for the constructive way in which they approached the 

resolution of those issues at this hearing. 

Summary of the litigation 

3. The claimant is a global financial services group of which GSA is a global competitor.  

Defendants 3 to 6 are senior officers of GSA and the seventh defendant is an in-house 

recruiter.  The part of the claimant's business with which the Claim is concerned is 

algorithmic trading, that is, the use of computer algorithms and statistical models to 

trade in the financial markets.  Algorithmic trading businesses develop trading 

strategies and then translate those strategies into computer commands through 

a combination of C++ Code, related configuration files and other relevant computer 

systems and programmes.  The key aim is to devise combinations of signals which 

identify price dislocations in the market which have not been identified by competitors, 

and to exploit them by trading profitably without undue risk.  The trading strategies 

and the principles and logic on which they are based are therefore highly confidential 

and, where the strategies are successful, highly commercially valuable.  They are also 

complex and expensive to develop. 

4. These proceedings concern one of the claimant's trading strategies, known as the "ABC 

Strategy", which is highly profitable.  Mr. Cologlu is the claimant's former Head 

Trader for ABC Strategy in Europe and was at the material time a London-based 

Quantitative Researcher employed by the claimant.  It appears that between the fourth 

quarter of 2018 and June 2019 he was involved in discussions with GSA with a view to 

his recruitment, and that the plan was that he would establish an algorithmic trading 

business for GSA.   
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5. The claimant's case is that in the course of those discussions Mr. Cologlu copied and 

disclosed its trade secrets and confidential information to the defendants in three key 

documents which were created by Mr. Cologlu and provided to the defendants in hard 

copy.  These were:  

i) A three-page "High Frequency Trading-Business Launch" document provided 

to GSA on 19 November 2018;  

ii) A seven-page “Business Plan” provided to GSA on 27th March 2019; and  

iii) A document entitled "New Trading Team Due Diligence Questionnaire - High 

Frequency Trading" which ran to 20 pages and was provided by Mr. Cologlu on 

or about 6 June 2019.  I will call this document "the DDQ". 

6. The DDQ was prepared in answer to a set of 96 questions which were asked of 

Mr. Cologlu by the defendants under ten headings including, for example, "Strategy 

overview", "Signal research" and "Risk considerations".  The DDQ has 10 

corresponding headings and it answers each of the 96 questions in turn.  It appears to 

contain information about an existing strategy as well as setting out what would be 

required for GSA to establish such a strategy.  The claimant says that it contains highly 

confidential information as to the "core portfolio logic used in the ABC Strategy and 

its related strategies".   

7. The claimant also relies on three emails which were sent to GSA by Mr. Cologlu.  

However, it is clear that the DDQ is its primary concern.   

8. I will refer to these six documents the "disputed documents". 

9. Mr. Cologlu's activities were discovered on Friday, 7 June 2019 and on the following 

Tuesday, that is 11 June 2019, injunctive relief was ordered against Mr. Cologlu by 

Butcher J under section 44 of the Arbitration Act 1996.  The claimant has also brought 

proceedings against Mr. Cologlu in the London Court of International Arbitration in 

accordance with arbitration provisions in his contract of employment.  A liability 

hearing is listed in those proceedings in February 2021.   

10. The defendants have also delivered up the documents which they say they have 

received from Mr. Cologlu.  By letter dated 14th June 2019, they gave undertakings 

confirming that no copies of the disputed documents had been retained and that no use 

had been or would be made of their contents.  The fourth to seventh defendants have 

also sworn affidavits which explain what they say is the limited use which they accept 

they made of the documents and information provided to them by Mr. Cologlu, and 

they have given further undertakings confirming that they will not make use of the 

information contained in them in the future.  GSA and the fourth to seventh 

defendants, as well as the recruitment consultant who assisted them in the recruitment 

process -- that is the external recruitment consultant -- also provided pre action 

disclosure on 23rd August 2019, they say, of all relevant documents 

11. The proceedings in the Queen's Bench Division, with which I am concerned, were 

issued on 16th December 2019.  The claimant alleges that information which 

Mr. Cologlu provided in the disputed documents was copied or derived from its ABC 

Strategy and related strategies, that this information was highly confidential and that 

the defendants were aware of this and solicited the provision of such information by 
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Mr Cologlu.  The claimant, therefore, brings claims which include breach of 

confidence and procuring breach of confidence, procuring breaches by Mr. Cologlu of 

his contract of employment, dishonest assistance of breaches of fiduciary duty by 

Mr. Cologlu and unlawful means conspiracy. 

12. In relation to remedy, the claimant claims declarations, final injunctive relief 

"negotiating damages" and "moral damages" as well as damages for losses such as 

wasted management time and forensic IT costs, equitable compensation and/or an 

account of profits.  Its financial claims are set out in a Provisional Schedule of Loss 

dated 7th August 2020, which values its claim for negotiating damages at not less than 

US$30 million and its claim for moral damages at not less than an additional $10 

million.  These figures, the claimant says, are on the basis of the defendants' admitted 

use of the information in the disputed documents.  The claimant does not accept that 

the use was limited to what has been admitted by the defendants and it says that it is to 

be inferred that there was greater use than was admitted.  Indeed, at paragraph 55 of 

the particulars of claim, it specifically pleads as follows: 

"55.  Further, and for the avoidance of doubt, the particulars in 

these Particulars of Claim reflect the limited information 

available to Citadel prior to disclosure and/or cross-examination 

herein.  It is specifically inferred that, in addition to those facts 

and matters admitted by the Defendants and/or Mr. Cologlu to 

date, and/or discovered by Citadel to date as particularised 

above, the Defendants and Mr. Cologlu: 

(1)  took further steps to plan and/or develop competing 

algorithmic trading strategies at GSA, unknown to Citadel to 

date; 

(2) misused Citadel's confidential information in further and 

additional respects, unknown to Citadel to date; and 

(3)  concealed and/or sought to conceal such maters from 

Citadel." 

 

13. On this basis, the claimant pleads that the true value of the Claim is likely to be "very 

substantially higher" than the figures I have mentioned. 

14. The defendants' position is that they were involved in routine recruitment discussions 

with Mr. Cologlu in which they considered a pitch by him to set up a new high 

frequency trading strategy trading in European equities.  They say that the discussions 

were at a high level of generality.  Mr. Cologlu did not disclose any trade secrets or 

confidential information, nor any information which would enable GSA to reverse 

engineer Mr. Cologlu's proposed business strategy. Nor did they induce him to do so, 

or think that he was doing so.  They say that the sort of information which he disclosed 

is widely known in the sector and/or is in the public domain.  As a matter of common 

sense, they say, Mr. Cologlu would not disclose information which was confidential or 

of significant value as this would undermine his own negotiating position. 
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15. The defendants put the claimant to proof that any information which Mr. Cologlu 

disclosed was copied for derived from the ABC or related strategies.  They point out 

that passages in the DDQ suggest that there would be a period of build-out after 

Mr. Cologlu was recruited and that there would therefore be no trading for 12 to 15 

months after recruitment.  They say that this is indicative of the fact that there was no 

plan to transfer the claimant's models to GSA.  They say that the documents provided 

by Mr. Cologlu were kept confidential within GSA and the DDQ had barely been 

considered given that it was received on 6th June and handed back with the other 

disputed documents on 13th June 2019.  They also say that they did not have 

a European equities algorithmic trading strategy at the time of the discussions with 

Mr. Cologlu and that these discussions were brought to an end by the claimant's 

actions in June 2019.  He was not recruited.  The defendants have not sought to set up 

a high frequency trading equities strategy since then and nor have they any plans to do 

so.  They say that they have made a clean breast of what took place through delivery 

up, the affidavits and the pre-action disclosure which has been provided.  There is, 

therefore, no inferential case that they did more than they have admitted and the 

disclosure shows, and the claimant’s financial claims are grossly inflated in any event. 

16. At paragraph 28(c) and (d) of its reply and defence to counterclaim, the claimant has 

responded to this line of argument as follows:   

"c.  The Defendants are put to proof as to what they did and did 

not do in all material respects, as to their communications with 

Mr Cologlu (and their purpose and effect), and as to their 

intention and belief at all material times; 

d. the contention that Citadel is “aware of the entirety of the 

Defendants’ use of the Cologlu Documents (such as it was)” is 

specifically denied. It is false. Material documents were 

shredded by Mr Kuschill. Other documents were destroyed by 

Mr Cologlu. Further, the accounts given to date by the 

Defendants and Mr Cologlu are false (and, indeed, inconsistent) 

in fundamental respects; " 

 

17. There is also a counterclaim in which the defendants say that the claimant was guilty 

of soliciting breach of confidence when recruiting a Mr. Taylor from GSA in May 

2019.  Mr. Taylor was GSA’s Co-Head of Macro Research and Trading.  The relief 

sought is a declaration and an injunction. No claim for damages is made.  The 

counterclaim appears to be a rhetorical in nature and designed to illustrate that 

inevitably in a recruitment process a certain amount of information about the 

employee's skills and experience will be sought and provided, and that this will 

inevitably include information about skills and experience gained by the employee at 

their current employer. 

 

"Sampling" 
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18. Mr. Craig QC began by emphasising the complexity of the evidence in the case and 

drew particular attention to paragraphs 46 and 47 of the witness statement of 

Mr. Weiner which state: 

"46.  ….. An algorithmic trading strategy is not like a business 

plan, reduced to writing in a single 'document' in the traditional 

sense, or a single code library, that could simply be produced by 

way of disclosure -- it is far more sophisticated and 

multi-faceted than that.  The relevant strategies operate through 

a combination of source code, configuration files, electronic 

processes, and software and hardware.  This is a complex 

picture. Some of the relevant logic underpinning the ABC 

Strategy (and related strategies) will appear in C++ source code. 

Some appears in configuration files, which are written in '.INT' 

(a standard format for configuration files, which determine the 

initial settings and parameters for computer programs such as 

the algorithms used in the ABC Strategy.  Some is incorporated 

in the processes that generate those configurations files, 

including other non-human readable file types. 

47.  Citadel intends to evidence each necessary and relevant 

aspect of the ABC Strategy or its sister strategies in disclosure 

using the least sensitive evidence realistically available, but not 

by standard disclosure of the entire strategy (or anything 

similar).   This will involve the collation and aggregation of 

many different types of evidence from many different media 

which, in due course, will need to be read with supporting 

explanations from Citadel's witnesses in their witness statements 

dealing with what the evidence shows and how it correlates with 

what was provided in the [DDQ].  In part, it will entail 

disclosure from the configuration files supporting the ABC 

Strategy.  In part, it will entail reports generated from the 

underlying electronic data. In part, it will entail internal reports 

(in all likelihood including reports generated by programs we 

will devise specifically for this claim) as to trading statistics and 

the like.  That is a sensible and practical approach, balancing the 

rights and interests of Citadel and the Defendants." 

 

19. Mr. Weiner's evidence as to the degree of complexity of the evidence at trial does not 

appear to be materially in dispute.   

20. Mr. Craig also confirmed that the claimants' case of copying and derivation is not 

based on cutting and pasting from a particular document.  The claimant has set out its 

case as to which information in the disputed documents has been copied or derived and 

which is confidential in an Annex to which I will refer as “the Annex”.  The Annex 

breaks the text of the disputed documents down into lines or sentences and identifies 

by use of crosses in boxes whether the information in each line or sentence is said to 

have been copied or, alternatively, derived from the ABC or related strategies and 

whether it is said to be confidential in itself or confidential taken in aggregate with 
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other information in those documents. 247 lines of the 360 lines in the DDQ are said to 

be confidential.  A total of approximately 330 lines in the six documents are said to be 

confidential. 

21. The claimant originally agreed standard disclosure on all issues and did not suggest 

that there be an approach based on sampling. Mr Craig said that in the light of the 

claimant’s experience in the arbitration proceedings against Mr. Cologlu, it has 

reflected on the feasibility of this approach and has concluded that it is not 

proportionate given the complexity which it entails. 

22. On 20th October 2020, the claimant therefore made an application for an order that 

each side identify 60-line entries on the Annex.  Under this proposal, the claimant 

would identify 60 items which it contended were confidential and the defendants 

would nominate 60 which they contended were not.  These entries would then be the 

subject of disclosure and would be litigated at the trial. 

23. On questioning from the court about the detail of this proposal, Mr. Craig confirmed 

that:   

i) the claimant did not require the defendants to nominate 60 or any items if they 

did not wish to do so: that was entirely a matter for the defendants;  

ii) the claimant would be prepared to take its stand on the 60 items which it 

identified, i.e. liability would be decided on the basis of these items alone;  

iii) similarly remedy, whether financial or injunctive relief, would also be decided, 

if at all, on the basis of the outcome on the items selected or nominated by the 

claimant; and  

iv) the claimant would not discontinue in respect of the balance of its case given 

the consequences in relation to costs, and costs would remain in the case.  But it 

would not be permitted to pursue its case that any further information in any of 

the six disputed documents was confidential. 

24. Mr. Devonshire QC took instructions and indicated that he would be potentially be 

minded to agree Mr. Craig's proposal provided: 

i) no inference could be drawn in the claimant's favour whether in relation to 

liability, remedy, or at all, in respect of items which were no longer pursued and 

nor could there be any extrapolation from the result based on the items selected 

by the claimant;  

ii) the defendants were consequently not required to particularise their case that 

the information in the disputed documents was in the public domain, other than 

in relation to the items selected by the claimant;  

iii) the defendants were entitled to maintain their case that the generality of the 

documents did not indicate that they contained highly confidential information; 

and  

iv) costs were in the case. 
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25. Mr. Craig responded that he thought it may be possible to reach agreement on this 

basis. He made clear, however, that he would wish to rely on the 96 questions which 

the defendants asked Mr. Cologlu, to which the DDQ provided the answers, in support 

of his case that the defendants were knowingly inducing breaches of duty by 

Mr. Cologlu.  The hearing was therefore adjourned overnight to allow counsel to 

attempt to reach agreement and, in this event, draft accordingly.   

26. On the second day of the hearing it emerged that agreement had not been reached.  The 

key concerns were as to: 

i) The application of the non-extrapolation principle.  Mr. Devonshire interpreted 

this as meaning that no extrapolation in the claimant's favour could be made 

from any success which they had in their claim that the 60 nominated items 

contained confidential information, but that the trial would proceed on the basis 

that the balance of the disputed documents contained information which was 

not confidential.  Mr. Craig interpreted the non-extrapolation principle as 

meaning there could be no extrapolation either way and therefore no inference 

could be drawn one way or the other in relation to the parts of the disputed 

documents which were not litigated; and as to 

ii) The application of Mr. Craig's approach to disclosure and other aspects of the 

evidence.  The concern raised by Mr. Devonshire was as to Mr. Craig's wish to 

rely on the 96 questions which led to the DDQ in order to support his case on 

inducement but the discussion in court widened to cover internal discussions 

within or involving the defendants.  I expressed my concern about the risk of 

unwittingly creating areas of uncertainty as to disclosure, witness evidence and 

fact finding or unforeseen evidential quandaries for the trial judge.   

27. At Mr. Devonshire's request I adjourned for the parties to discuss whether these issues 

could be addressed by agreement but, unfortunately, they could not be.  I was therefore 

invited to rule on the claimant's application and decided to reject it, both in the 

modified form in which it was presented orally and in its original written form which, 

as I have said, asked for an order that the defendants nominate 60 items of their own. 

28. My reasons for rejecting the modified application can be summarised as follows.   

29. First, as to complexity, I accept that the evidence in this case will be highly complex 

from a technical point of view, but I do not accept that at trial the judge is likely to 

adopt a line-by-line approach as has been adopted by the claimant in the Annex.  While 

it is likely to be necessary to consider whether certain specific items of information are 

confidential or trade secrets, in respect of others the case is already pleaded in terms of 

their effect when taken in aggregate with the other information in the disputed 

documents is confidential.  I think it likely that, where appropriate, the judge will look 

at the information provided under the ten headings about which the defendants asked 

questions and/or Mr. Cologlu provided information in the DDQ and/or that the judge 

will look at particular paragraphs rather than adjudicate the quality of all of the 

information line by line.  Indeed, both parties agree that witnesses of fact and experts 

and advocates are likely to adopt a similar approach. 

30. Thus, although the evidence is undoubtedly complex, I do not accept that the process 

of adjudicating the issues will be as detailed as it has been presented in the Annex.  
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Mr. Craig told me that it has been the claimant's experience in the arbitration with 

Mr. Cologlu that there was a high degree of complexity and cost, but he was not at 

liberty to tell me anything more about that.  I do not criticise him in this regard, given 

the confidentiality of those proceedings, but nor was he at liberty to answer my 

question about whether a sampling approach had been taken in those proceedings. 

31. Second, for similar reasons I do not accept that any approach other than Mr. Craig's 

will result in a six-week trial on liability.  Even if it would, the claim is valued by the 

claimant at not less than US$40 million and it puts the reputations, and potentially the 

livelihoods, of at least the four individual defendants at stake.  The prospect of such 

a trial is therefore not disproportionate. 

32. Third, I have a very real concern about the fairness to the defendants if, as Mr. Craig 

advocates, they are not to be permitted to ask the court to find that the bulk of the 

information in the documents was in the public domain and/or of a general rather than 

a confidential nature.  This matters because the central issues in the case include the 

defendants' knowledge, belief, understanding and intentions in their dealings with 

Mr. Cologlu as well as the extent of their use of the information which they received.  

As I have noted, they are accused of bad faith and indeed mendacity in relation to these 

issues and they face a very substantial financial claim.  It is said, in effect, that they 

were obviously seeking “weapons grade” information, that that is what they received, 

that they considered the disputed documents carefully, that they were well aware of the 

nature of what they received, that they made more use of the information than they say 

and that it is of great value to them in the future. Their position, on the other hand, is 

that even if the claimant established that the items which it nominated were 

collectively or individually confidential information or trade secrets, the vast majority 

of the information which they received was of general and high-level nature (as they 

put it), they therefore did not give it the attention alleged or make particular use of it. 

They say that their actions and the credibility of their evidence about their actions 

should be judged in that light. In this connection I note that the most confidential 

information in the DDQ has been redacted but it is apparent from the redactions that 

the information appears to be short passages from what, overall, is a relatively lengthy 

text. 

33. Fourth, I have concerns about creating pitfalls in relation to other aspects of the case, 

including disclosure and evidence going to issues other than those which Mr. Craig's 

proposal seeks to address.  By way of example, Mr. Craig was clear that under his 

proposal there would be no constraints on either party in relation to the use of other 

material in the case to make or refute charges of wrongdoing: 

i) As I have noted, he would wish to rely on the 96 questions which led to the 

DDQ to show that the defendants were, indeed, seeking confidential 

information and had the intentions alleged and were, therefore, inducing 

breaches of duty by Mr. Cologlu.  But the question would then arise as to what 

the judge would be required to do if Mr. Craig pointed in cross-examination to 

a series of questions which he said were clearly seeking information which was 

inevitably confidential and the defendants' witness said that they were actually 

seeking the sort of information which is generally available in the sector or no 

particular use.  Mr. Craig's answer, as I understood it, was that the judge could 

not take a view unless the questions Mr Craig relied on related to items which 

had been nominated by the claimant as part of its sample.  To my mind, this 
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indicated a level of complication and artificiality which would be problematic 

at trial - there would potentially be disputes about whether the questions related 

to any of the 60 items and so on. 

ii) My concerns increased when Mr. Craig said that he would also wish to rely on 

internal exchanges within the defendants about information to be sought, 

information which was then received and the defendants' reaction to the receipt 

of such information. These materials would be relevant to the inducement case. 

Again, there would potentially be disputes as to whether the exchanges related 

to the 60 nominated items.   

34. These sorts of issues also seemed to me to have the potential to complicate an already 

complicated disclosure process, with the parties wrangling about whether the material 

did relate sufficiently directly to the 60 nominated items. 

35. Fifth, as Mr. Devonshire pointed out, it is within the gift of the claimant to reduce the 

scope of its case.  There is nothing to stop it from limiting its positive case to 

a narrower category of information. 

36. As to the claimant's intermediate proposal, which involves the defendants also 

nominating 60 items of information, but this time information which they say is not 

confidential, to my mind this meets with essentially the same objections in terms of 

potential unfairness, artificiality and the creation of evidential pitfalls.  But it also 

requires the defendants to nominate without first having had disclosure.  This is not 

quite a “lucky-dip” approach, as Mr. Devonshire described it, given that the defendants 

say that they are able to plead a case as to whether the sort of information which the 

disputed documents contain is high level and generally available.  But it does add to 

the risk of unfairness given that the claimant is currently in possession of the requisite 

information to make its choice and prove its case on copying and derivation whereas 

the defendants are not; or at least not entirely.   

37. I therefore refused the Claimant’s application. 

Expert evidence  

38. Before turning to the question of a split trial, I should say something about the 

proposed expert evidence in the proceedings. 

39. The parties are agreed that there will potentially be two types of expert evidence.  First, 

there is a proposal for experts in algorithmic trading.  For the claimant this will be 

a Professor Clifford and for the defendants this will be a Dr. Thomas Auld.  The issues 

which these gentlemen will address have not been finally agreed but are currently as 

follows:   

"1. What, if any, information in the Cologlu Documents and the 

Emails has been copied or derived from the Claimant’s ABC 

Strategy or Related Strategies? 

2. What, if any, information in the Cologlu Documents and the 

Emails is accessible in any publicly available sources identified 

by the Defendants? 
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3. What, if any, information of the type and kind set out in the 

Cologlu Documents and Emails is accessible in any publicly 

available sources identified by the Defendants? 

4. To what extent (if any) would the information in the Cologlu 

Documents and/or the Emails enable GSA to replicate and/or 

copy the logic and construction of the ABC Strategy and/or 

Related Strategies and/or or any material part thereof, or to plan 

or develop their own competing strategies, and/or give GSA a 

significant and valuable head start in seeking to do so? 

5. What would be involved in turning the plan suggested in the 

Cologlu Documents into a viable and operative HFT Strategy 

and maintaining it in operation on an on-going basis once set up, 

and with what (if any) likelihood of success? 

6. What information, if any, in the Cologlu Documents and the 

Emails is commonly known to those with expertise in HFT 

operating within the industry? 

7. What amount would a hypothetical willing purchaser pay to 

obtain and make use of the information in the Cologlu 

Documents and the Emails (or such portion as is Confidential) in 

the manner alleged in the Particulars of Claim?" 

40. The claimant is sceptical about the use of expert evidence to address these issues and 

has reservations about issues 5 to 7 in particular, but it has been agreed that any 

arguments as to the admissibility of the reports of these experts should be dealt with 

after reports have been served.  I am content to adopt this approach.   

41. Second, there will be accountancy experts.  The issues in relation to these experts are 

agreed as follows: 

"1. The loss and damage suffered by the Claimant (if any) as a 

consequence of the Defendants’ unlawful conduct (if any). 

2. In particular: 

a. In respect of the Claimant’s negotiating damages claim: 

(i) the accountancy principles which inform any 

valuation of the price which would have been arrived at 

in a hypothetical negotiation between a willing buyer 

and a willing seller in respect of obtaining and using 

Citadel information; and 

(ii) the price which would have been arrived at in a 

hypothetical negotiation between a willing buyer and 

willing seller in respect of such wrongful obtaining and 

use of Citadel information as is found by the Court (if 

any). 
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b. The quantum of such wasted management time as is claimed 

by the Claimant. 

c. The quantum of such interest as is claimed by the Claimant."  

42. It will be seen that these questions go exclusively to the claimant's claims for financial 

remedies including valuation for the purposes of the negotiating damages claim. 

Split trial? 

Introduction  

43. The competing positions under this heading are that: 

i) The claimant says there should be a trial on liability and injunctive relief.  

Initially it was said that this would require only 14 days and that the trial could 

take place in January 2022.  There would then be a trial on quantum if liability 

was established and this would take place in December 2022 and last four days.  

Mr. Craig told me, however, that in the light of my rejection of his sampling 

application, eight to ten days would need to be added to his estimate for the trial 

on liability.   

ii) The defendants say that a 20-day trial on all issues should be directed. It is 

agreed that it would be feasible for this to take place in October 2022. 

Local framework  

44. I was referred to CPR 1.42(h) and (i) and reminded that I should exercise my discretion 

in accordance with the overriding objective.  Both parties took me to judgment of 

Hildyard J in Electrical Waste Recycling Group Limited v Philips Electronics UK 

Limited [2012] EWHC 38 (Ch) at paragraphs 3 to 5, 13 and 16 in particular. 

Paragraphs 5-6 provide authoritative and helpful guidance on the approach:  

"5.  Where the issue of case management that arises is whether 

to split trials the approach called for is an essentially pragmatic 

one, and there are various (some competing) considerations. 

These considerations seem to me to include whether the 

prospective advantage of saving the costs of an investigation of 

quantum if liability is not established outweighs the likelihood 

of increased aggregate costs if liability is established and a 

further trial is necessary; what are likely to be the advantages 

and disadvantages in terms of trial preparation and management; 

whether a split trial will impose unnecessary inconvenience and 

strain on witnesses who may be required in both trials; whether 

a single trial to deal with both liability and quantum will lead to 

excessive complexity and diffusion of issues, or place an undue 

burden on the Judge hearing the case; whether a split may cause 

particular prejudice to one or other of the parties (for example 

by delaying any ultimate award of compensation or damages); 

whether there are difficulties of defining an appropriate split or 

whether a clean split is possible; what weight is to be given to 

the risk of duplication, delay and the disadvantage of bifurcated 
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appellate process; generally, what is perceived to offer the best 

course to ensure that the whole matter is adjudicated as fairly, 

quickly and efficiently as possible. 

6.  Other factors to be derived from the guidance given by CPR 

Rule 1.4, which reflect a common sense and a pragmatic 

approach, may include whether a split would assist or 

discourage mediation and/or settlement; and whether an order 

for a split late in the day after the expenditure of time and costs 

might actually increase costs." 

45. Mr. Craig also relied on Leaflet Company Limited v Royal Mail Group Limited [2009] 

UKCLR 232 to illustrate the point that where there may be a range of outcomes in 

relation to liability, a split between liability and quantum may be appropriate so as not 

to overburden the court and the parties with the need to prepare for and consider the 

implications of multiple different hypothetical permutations in terms of the outcome, 

the majority if not all of which may never eventuate.   

46. Mr Craig also referred me to the decision of Morris J in Marussia Communications 

Ireland Limited v Manor Grand Prix Racing Limited [2017] EWHC 901 (Com) to 

illustrate the conventional approach in trade mark dispute cases particularly where 

there is a claim for an account of profits as here. In the Marussia case an application to 

deal with liability and quantum at one hearing was refused despite the fact that it 

seemed more likely the claimant would elect for damages rather than an account of 

profits and damages were most likely to be decided on Wrotham Park principles. 

47. Mr Devonshire relied on Road Chef Limited v Ingram-Hill and another [2013] EWHC 

939 (Ch), but this was in truth an illustration of the application of paragraph 5 of the 

judgment of Hildyard J in the Electrical Waste case to the particular circumstances of 

the Road Chef case. Mr. Devonshire also referred me to the very helpful summary of 

the principles at paragraphs 25 to 32 of the judgment of Bryan J in Daimler AG v 

Walleniusrederierna Aktiebolag and others [2020] EWHC 525 (Comm).  His analysis 

of the Leaflet Company case at paragraph 60(3) and his observations about judicial 

resources at paragraph 61. 

Submissions  

48. Mr. Craig accepted Mr. Devonshire's point that, in relation to liability, in broad terms 

the court would need to consider:   

i) What information was copied or derived from the defendants' information?   

ii) Whether the disputed documents contained confidential information and, if so, 

how confidential the information was?   

iii) Individual items of information, but also information in aggregate.   

iv) The knowledge and intentions of the defendants.   

v) What use, if any, was made of the information provided by Mr. Cologlu?   
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49. Taking its findings on these matters into account in the context of the evidence as 

a whole, the court would then assess the seriousness of the defendants' conduct and the 

value of the information provided to the defendants in coming to a view on the 

quantum of any negotiating or moral damages.   

50. Mr. Craig pointed out that, as matters stand, there are numerous items of disputed 

information: in the order of 300 were said to be confidential.  He said that the court 

could reach a range of findings as to what or was not copied or derived, was or was not 

confidential, as to degree of confidentiality and as to the degree or extent of the 

defendants' use of that information.   

51. Mr. Craig's argument was that the trial should be divided into two parts.  In Part 1 the 

witnesses, including the experts on algorithmic trading, would give evidence about the 

questions at paragraphs 49 (i) to (v) above and the judge would then make findings 

which would then form the basis for their decision on liability. Any decision about 

financial remedy would then be dealt with in Part 2.  In Part 1 the judge would also 

deal with the claim for injunctive relief.   

52. Mr. Craig said that at the first stage the claimant may lose, or the case may clearly not 

warrant a financial remedy (although, of course, there is a certain irony about his 

reliance on these possibilities given that the claimant says that it should and will win, 

and that substantial sums should be awarded), or it may settle.  In any of these events, 

the litigation would be at an end and the costs of preparing the evidence on the 

financial claims would be saved.   

53. If the litigation did not come to an end at this stage, there would be a decision by the 

claimant as to whether the remedy it sought was an account of profits or negotiating 

and moral damages.  In the event that it was the latter, the accountancy experts would 

give valuation and other evidence in the light of the actual findings of the court. This 

would mean that their evidence was given on an actual, rather than a hypothetical, 

basis and would be of assistance to the court -- the evidence would deal with the case 

as found rather than a hypothetical outcome or range of outcomes -- and it would 

therefore avoid wasting costs.  The alternative was that the accountancy experts 

prepared valuation and other quantum evidence at substantial expense, only for this 

ultimately to prove to have been unnecessary, or they prepared evidence which was not 

particularly helpful as it did not address the case as found and the accountancy experts 

were, therefore, obliged to carry out a second exercise in the light of the actual findings 

of the court.   

54. Mr. Craig pointed out that the issue was being raised early in the proceedings and said 

that the demarcation line in terms of the evidence which would be adduced in Parts 1 

and 2 respectively was clear and it did not involve any overlap.  He said his approach 

also maximised the chance of a speedy resolution of the litigation.  On Mr. Craig's 

approach, he said that liability would be determined at a hearing in January 2022.  This 

might well bring an end to the litigation but, if it did not, the quantum hearing could be 

dealt with by the end of the year particularly if disclosure on all issues took place in the 

context of Part 1 of the proceedings, which he agreed it would.   

55. Mr. Craig said that there would be no prejudice to the defendants if the question of 

quantum were delayed as they have no financial claims.  The prejudice was all to the 



MR JUSTICE LINDEN 

Approved Judgment 

Citadel Securities v GSA Capital and Ors 

 

 

claimant which would have been kept out of its money in the event that (a) it won and 

(b) the Claim is financially valuable.   

56. Mr. Craig rejected the suggestion that his approach would make settlement less likely 

as there would be no evidence dealing with quantum. Disclosure would take place on 

all issues, the parties would seek expert opinion if they wished and they were in any 

event sophisticated parties and well able to judge the realities of litigation.   

57. He also said that the risk of any bifurcation of the appeal process was overstated. 

I should not manage the case on the basis that there might be an appeal. Even if there 

were an appeal on liability, it could be stayed pending the outcome on remedy.  He 

said that the arguments about the possibility of an appeal were not all one way.  He 

raised the possibility of the claimant losing on a trial of all the issues and the judge 

then not making findings on quantum or having to re-do the whole of the case on the 

basis of a successful appeal on liability because the judge's findings on liability were 

flawed.   

58. As to the defendants' point that the judge in Part 1 might not be able to deal with costs 

without a view about the value of the case, Mr. Craig said that the judge could, if 

necessary, reserve the costs. 

Conclusion 

59. On balance, I have decided to reject the application for a split trial.  I accept that the 

factors which fall for consideration overlap and can be relied on to support competing 

conclusions, but for the following reasons I do not consider that the overriding 

objective will be best served by the course proposed by Mr. Craig. 

60. I accept that Mr. Craig's proposal as to the demarcation of Parts 1 and 2 is, in principle, 

capable of clear definition, but this is not a case in which the findings on liability are 

separate from the considerations which are relevant on quantum.  Obviously, they 

never are, but this is not a case where, say, the court is asked to make a finding of 

liability for negligence or breach of contract before going on, at a later stage, to make 

essentially discrete findings as to the claimant's injuries or the financial consequences 

of the breach of duty.  It is a case in which the court would be asked to make findings 

which directly impacted on the valuation of the information disclosed and moral 

damages and then, rather than apply those findings, postpone reaching a conclusion so 

that experts could give opinions as to what flowed from them. 

61. There also seems to me to be a significant risk that, in the event that liability was 

established, even the most conscientious and thorough judge would not address, in the 

liability judgment, all of the questions of fact which would need to be answered in 

order for the accountants to carry out their valuation exercise. The judge could not 

guarantee to do so, precisely because what the experts specifically regarded as 

necessary to their task would not be known.  There is, therefore, a substantial risk that 

the proposed valuation exercise carried out by the court in Part 2 would involve 

evidence and argument which might have been deployed on one occasion but are 

spread over two hearings.  In this event, witnesses might also need to give evidence 

twice.   
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62. In this connection, I also note that the draft questions for the algorithmic trading 

experts (which I have set out above) potentially straddle liability and quantum in the 

case of questions 5 to 7 but particularly question 7.  Although no final position has 

been reached as to admissibility in relation to the experts' answers to these questions, 

as matters stand the evidence will be prepared and it does appear to me that there is 

a close interrelationship between the answers to these questions and the evidence on 

which the accountants will base their opinions. 

63. I also accept that in principle a split trial may lead to a saving in costs in that if liability 

is not established, or the case is disposed of by agreement after the liability hearing, the 

costs of the expert accountancy evidence will not have been incurred.  If liability is 

established, the expert accountancy evidence is also likely to be more focused if it is 

prepared after judgment is handed down given that the evidence would be based on the 

actual case rather than the hypothetical cases or a range of scenarios.   

64. But against this I weigh a number of factors in addition to the ones already mentioned.  

First, in the real world it seems to me that there is a significant risk of duplication of 

work and costs if the case has to be prepared twice.  In theory this ought not to be so, 

and in the course of the hearing I also suggested that to guard against this risk I could 

cap the budgeted costs at the level of the agreed costs of the unified hearing.  Mr. Craig 

was willing to agree to this approach, but it then emerged that the claimant would wish 

to revise its budget in relation to any unified hearing in the light of my ruling on 

sampling. Its budget had apparently been prepared on the basis that I allowed its 

sampling application.  

65. Second, it seems to me to be highly desirable for the parties to gain a clear 

understanding of the likely cost of the litigation and its true value as early as possible.  

It will be on the basis of this understanding that they will be able to make decisions as 

to what is really in issue if the case is to fight and the parameters for any settlement 

negotiations. As I have noted, part of Mr. Craig's answer to this point was to agree that 

disclosure on all issues would take place in Part 1 and to point out that the parties 

could seek expert opinion if they chose to do so.  But such an approach necessarily 

reduces the costs savings which would result from a split trial.  Indeed, I was told that 

the documents involved in the claimant's disclosure would number in the order of 

10,000 for liability only but a further 40,000 for quantum.  The costs of any expert 

evidence for the purposes of without prejudice discussion would also potentially be 

substantial. 

66. Third, the decision as to the appropriate financial remedies for the court to make (see 

Marathon Asset Management v Seddon and Others [2017] ICR 791 at paragraph 223). 

It seems to me that the overwhelming likelihood is that the only remedy available to 

the claimant in the event that liability is established will be negotiating damages and 

moral damages.  There has been pre-action disclosure and affidavits have been sworn 

and there is currently no evidence or pleaded case that the defendants have taken any 

step since 13th June 2019 to establish a relevant algorithmic trading business.  

I appreciate that the claimant says that they made more use of the information than 

they admit prior to this date, but, of course, that does not deal with the position since 

that date and I also have to consider the management of the case as currently pleaded. 

67. Fourth, although there is a range of possible outcomes on liability, and therefore in 

theory a range of possible results in terms of negotiating and moral damages, I note 
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that the claimant's case is that even on the defendants' admissions as to their use of 

information provided by Mr Cologlu, the minimum value of the Claim is US$40 

million.  It seems to me that this stance makes the chances of settlement in the event of 

the claimant winning on liability very unlikely unless there has been a careful 

assessment on both sides of whether there is any reality at all to this number, assuming 

that the claimant is right on the nature of the information disclosed by Mr. Cologlu and 

the defendants are right on the extent of their use of that information.  This is one of 

the questions which the experts will undoubtedly address and their answer will provide 

a very useful benchmark for settlement negotiations and for the court in the event that 

the matter goes to trial. 

68. Fifth, no doubt the experts will also evaluate the defendants' best case as to the nature 

of the information disclosed by Mr. Cologlu by reference to their witness evidence and 

the expert evidence of Dr. Auld,  as well as evaluating the claimant’s best case if it is 

right about the issue of confidentiality and there is any basis for alleging that the 

activities of the defendants went beyond what they have admitted.  These steps will 

provide additional useful parameters for the parties and the court.  The experts may 

well address other scenarios.  I therefore do not agree that expert accountancy evidence 

as part of a single trial would serve no useful purpose, particularly given that, as the 

claimant itself pleads in the schedule of loss, the approach to negotiating damages "is 

necessarily impressionistic".   

69. Sixth, I do not accept there will be no prejudice to the defendants if Mr. Craig's 

approach is adopted.  They may win outright but they may not, and, in this event, there 

seems to me to be a substantial risk that settlement is not possible on Mr. Craig's 

proposal and the claimant then pursues its claims to the next stage. The litigation 

would then be hanging over the defendants personally, as well as the GSA business, 

for a significantly longer period. 

70. Seventh, as to the saving of time, the parties agree that unless the litigation is resolved 

in Part 1, it will necessarily take longer to complete the proceedings if there is a split 

hearing than if there is a unified one.  I have listened to the detailed arguments on the 

likely timetable but there is a high degree of guesswork involved in predicting how 

long the stages of the litigation will take and what complications will arise along the 

way.  Suffice it to say that I am not convinced that the case will be ready for trial on 

Part 1 in January 2022 and quantum could then be decided 12 months thereafter given 

the complexity and volume of the evidence, which both sides emphasise, and given the 

limited progress which the proceedings have made in the best part of a year since they 

were issued.  It seems to me that there is a substantial risk that each stage of the 

litigation process will take longer than the claimant predicts.  On the other hand, the 

parties agree, as I have noted, that a unified trial could take place from October 2022. 

71. Eighth, the burden on the trial judge is a relevant consideration, as Mr. Craig points 

out, but I am not at all sure that the trial judge would thank me for splitting the trial.  

This would potentially tie their hands in relation to remedy.  I agree with Mr 

Devonshire that the approach to negotiating and/or moral damages will not be 

scientific in the sense that a formula can be applied.  The approach will be 

impressionistic as the claimant pleads and, in my view, the judge is likely to be able to 

come to a conclusion in Part 1 on what, if anything, to award even if the accountancy 

experts do not directly address the precise scenario which the judge finds on the 

evidence.  It would therefore potentially be very unhelpful for the judge to be 
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prevented from making a decision on damages and costs because the necessary 

evidence was not available.  I also take into account the potential complications in 

relation to judicial availability and resources given that quantum would not be 

determined until 12 to 18 months after the trial on Part 1. 

72. Ninth, the bifurcation of any appeal process is a concern in my view.  Mr. Craig's 

proposal to stay any appeal on liability is a potentially treacherous course to take 

although, of course, he did not intend it to be.  As Mr. Devonshire pointed out, in the 

event of a defeat for the claimant, there would be delay whilst any appeal ran its 

course, with the potential need for a re-run if the appeal succeeded.  If the claimant 

won, but either party considered that the judge had got the findings on liability wrong 

(the claimant thought the judge did not go far enough or the defendants thought that 

the judge went too far) staying an appeal until the decision on quantum had been made 

would not be an attractive course.  Such a stay would mean that the parties then 

incurred the costs of the quantum hearing whilst running the risk that the conclusion on 

appeal was that quantum had been decided on a false basis and the costs of Part 2 had 

been entirely wasted.  In this event Parts 1 and 2 would also potentially have to be 

re-run. 

73. So for all of these reasons, I decline to split the trial at this stage. 

The defendants' application for orders for further information  

The law   

74. I was reminded of the well-known passages from the judgment of Lord Woolf MR in 

McPhilemy v Times Newspapers Limited and Others [1999] 3 All ER 885 at 792 and 

Hall v Sevalco Limited [1996] PIQR 344 at 349 which deprecate prolixity of pleading 

and pleading battles. They also emphasise that the approach should be for the 

pleadings to contain what is necessary and proportionate for the fair determination of 

the issues in the proceedings, and that disproportionate expense should be avoided. 

75. The approach which I am required to take is also clearly set out in paragraph 1.2 of 

CPR Practice Direction 18 which states that requests for further information must be 

"reasonably necessary and proportionate to enable the party to prepare his own case or 

to understand the case which he has to meet".   

76. I also agree with the commentary in Blackstone's Civil Practice 2020 paragraph 30.1 

which states: 

"CPR, Part 18, and PD 18 provide procedures by which, subject 

to any rule of law or procedure to the contrary, one party to 

proceedings can obtain from any other party: 

"(a) clarification of any matter which is in dispute in the 

proceedings; and/or 

"(b) additional information in relation to any such matter. 

..The doctrine of proportionality and the approach to statements 

of case generally, should mean that requests for further 

information are used with some caution.  Although they can be 
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used to advantage in some claims, considerable care must be 

taken in selecting the areas to be investigated by a request, and 

in formulating the questions to be put.  Where the responding 

party's statement of case is already sufficiently pleaded, requests 

for further information designed for: 

"(a) tactical reasons;  

"(b) obtaining further explanation of matters clearly put in issue 

on the existing statements of case;  

"(c) an explanation of the responding party's legal arguments; …  

..are abuses of Part l8 and will not be allowed (Trader 

Publishing Ltd v Autotrader.Com Inc. [2010] EWHC 142 (Ch), 

LTL l2/3/2010).”  

77. As far as claims for breach of confidence are concerned, I was reminded by 

Mr. Devonshire of the authorities which emphasise the need for particularity of 

pleading where the breach of confidence is alleged.  He referred to John Zinc Company 

v Wilkinson [1973] RPC 317 and, in particular, Russell LJ's emphasis at page 724 on 

the need to plead "the matters that are said to be trade secrets or confidential matter and 

not simply areas in which or matters in respect of which it is said that the plaintiffs 

were, so to speak, proprietors of trade secrets and information was confidential". 

78. Mr. Devonshire also referred to the following well-known passage from the judgment 

of Laddie J in Ocular Sciences Limited v Aspect Vision Care Limited [1997] RPC 289, 

360 where he said at page 359:  

"The rules relating to the particularity of pleadings apply to 

breach of confidence actions as they apply to all other 

proceedings.  But it is well recognised that breach of confidence 

actions can be used to oppress and harass competitors and 

ex-employees.  The courts are therefore careful to ensure that 

the plaintiff gives full and proper particulars of all the 

confidential information on which he intends to rely in the 

proceedings.  If the plaintiff fails to do this the court may infer 

that the purpose of the litigation is harassment rather than the 

protection of the plaintiff's rights and may strike out the action 

as an abuse of process."  

79. Then at page 360:  

"The normal approach of the court is that if a plaintiff wishes to seek relief 

against a defendant for misuse of confidential information it is his duty to 

ensure that the defendant knows what information is in issue. This is not only 

for the reasons set out by Edmund Davies LJ in John Zinc but for at least two 

other reasons.  First, the plaintiff usually seeks an injunction to restrain the 

defendant from using its confidential information.  Unless the confidential 

information is properly identified, an injunction in such terms is of uncertain 

scope and may be difficult to enforce: see for example P.A. Thomas & Co. V. 

Mould [1968] 2 QB 913 and Suhner & Co. AG v. Transradio Ltd [1967] RPC 
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329. Secondly, the defendant must know what he has to meet.  He may wish to 

show that the items of information relied on by the plaintiff are matters of 

public knowledge.  His ability to defend himself will be compromised if the 

plaintiff can rely on matters of which no proper warning was given.  It is for all 

these reasons that failure to give proper particulars may be a particularly 

damaging abuse of process.” 

80. These cases therefore emphasise the need for clarity as to what information is said to 

be confidential. But I do not accept that, as Mr Craig appeared to submit, they contain 

an exhaustive account of what degree of particularity is required in all breach of 

confidence cases – provided the items of alleged confidential information are 

specifically identified the claimant cannot be required to do more by way of pleading. 

Having considered these authorities and other authorities referred to by Mr. Craig, in 

my view the requirements which were reiterated by Laddie J should be regarded as an 

application of the generally applicable test now set out in paragraph 1.2 of Practice 

Direction 18 in the particular context of breach of confidence claims. Even in that 

context a claimant may therefore be required to do more where the application of that 

test to the particular circumstances of the case requires it. 

Requests 2 to 7 and 10(1) to (4) dated 19th March 2020  

81. These requests relate to a number of contentions in the particulars of claim that 

information provided by Mr. Cologlu to the defendants was "copied or derived from 

and/or were the claimant's confidential information related to the ABC Strategy and 

related strategies" (see paragraphs 28(2), 35, 44 and 45 of the particulars of claim).  

The defendants are not able to make any positive case that the information was not 

copied or derived from the claimant's confidential strategies but, as I have noted, they 

say that the sort of information provided by Mr. Cologlu was unremarkable to any 

informed industry insider and available from publicly-available sources.  The 

defendants have therefore agreed to provide particulars, by reference to the items 

identified by the claimant in the Annex, of which items comprise the sort of 

information which they maintain is publicly available and where they such information 

can be found, and to do so by 22 January 2021.   

82. In a request for information dated 19th March 2020 the defendants asked for further 

particulars of the claimant's case on copying, derivation and confidentiality. By way of 

example, Request 2 asks:    

"(1) Is it alleged that the 16 October 2018 email contained the 

Claimant’s: (i) confidential information; (ii) trade secret; or (iii) 

information that Mr. Cologlu was otherwise restrained from 

disseminating? 

"(2) If so, please identify all information in the email which is 

alleged to amount to the Claimant’s: (i) confidential 

information; (ii) trade secret; or (iii) information that Mr. 

Cologlu was otherwise restrained from disseminating; setting 

out in respect of each piece of information which of the above 

categories it is alleged the information falls under. 
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"(3) If it is alleged that any information contained within Mr. 

Morrison’s email was derived from the ABC Strategy please 

identify with full particulars: 

"a. All such information in the email; and  

"b. The information in relation to the ABC Strategy from which 

the information in relation to the email is alleged to have been 

derived." (emphasis added) 

83. The claimant's response has been to create the Annex to which I have referred.  As 

I have said, this takes each document in turn and breaks it down line by line indicating 

by way of crosses in boxes which information is said to have been copied and/or 

derived and/or is confidential and/or confidential in aggregate. But they have declined 

to plead the information from which it is said that the information in the disputed 

documents is copied or derived so that there is, in effect, a pleaded comparison 

between source and extract.   

84. After some exchanges with the court, ultimately I understood Mr. Devonshire to accept 

that this part of his application gives rise to an issue of principle, the determination of 

which will dispose of all of the items under this general heading and that that issue is 

whether, having particularised the information which the claimant says is copied, 

derived and/or confidential the claimant should also be required to say from what 

information belonging to the Claimant it was copied or derived.   

85. I then heard argument from Mr. Devonshire as to why the question of principle should 

be answered in his clients’ favour.  For reasons which will become apparent I need not 

summarise those arguments, but they are set out very clearly in his skeleton argument. 

86. In his skeleton argument, Mr. Craig resisted this part of Mr Devonshire’s application 

with equal clarity and vigour. But in the light of provisional views expressed by the 

court early in his oral submissions, agreement under this heading has been reached, 

and I can therefore deal with the matter significantly more briefly.   

87. As I have noted, paragraph 1.2 of Practice Direction 18 sets out the test.  My 

provisional view was that proportionality in relation to this part of the Defendants’ 

application was not an issue given the size and alleged value of the Claim and given 

that the claimant, through Mr Weiner’s witness statement, rightly accepts that it will 

have to set out this aspect of its Claim in due course. As Mr Craig immediately 

accepted, the real issue was therefore as to when it should do so and in what form. 

88. My provisional view was therefore that the defendants should make clear the basis of 

its copying and derivation case by the stage when disclosure was provided.  This was 

because the defendants, their advisers and their experts need to understand this aspect 

of the case against them by that stage in order to process the disclosure efficiently.  

The claimants' disclosure is likely to involve a very substantial amount of material and 

that material will be complex. The defendants and their representatives and advisers 

should therefore know what they are looking for when they read and process it.  This 

will also enable them potentially to narrow the issues and to take other decisions about 

the conduct of the litigation.   
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89. When I expressed these provisional views, as I have said, Mr. Craig very sensibly 

indicated it might be possible to reach agreement on this basis and Mr. Devonshire, 

equally sensibly, agreed.  In the result, agreement has been reached and will no doubt 

be recorded in the draft directions but I understand that the agreement is that on 

inspection the claimant will re-serve the Annex with an additional column identifying, 

for each line entry, the disclosure identification reference and internal page number 

evidencing the relevant aspect of the ABC Strategy and/or related strategies. 

The identification requests  

90. The application under this heading relates to Requests 8, 10(5) and 11(2) to (4) of the 

defendants' request for further information dated 19th March 2020.  The requests relate 

to allegations by the claimant that passages in the DDQ set out specified matters: 

i) Paragraph 10 of the particulars of claim alleges that the DDQ set out "the core 

portfolio and construction logic of the ABC and/or related strategies". Request 

8 asks the claimant to identify where the disputed documents do this. 

ii) Similarly, paragraph 44 of the particulars of claim alleges in relation to the  the 

DDQ that: 

"In effect, the information in that document was copied from 

and/or laid out: 

"(1) the core portfolio and construction logic of the ABC 

Strategy and/or Related Strategies: 

"(2) scale and scope; 

"(3) revenue potential for the European equities markets; and 

"(4) salient features required to run such strategies successfully."  

Request 10(5) asked the claim to identify the passages relied upon. 

iii) Paragraph 45 of the particulars of claim alleges: 

"This information was among Citadel's most sensitive 

confidential information relating to certain of its most valuable 

algorithmic trading strategies.  It would enable GSA to copy the 

logic and construction of the ABC Strategy and/or Related 

Strategies or key parts thereof, without the costly research, 

development, and trial and error processes undertaken by 

Citadel over a period of years and at vast expense." 

Requests 11(2) to (4) asked the claimant to identify which passages had this 

effect. 

91. Mr. Devonshire submits that in accordance with the authorities on breach of 

confidence, referred to above, this information should be provided.   
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92. Mr. Craig disagrees.  He submits that the Annex sets out in granular detail each of the 

items of information alleged to be confidential and that the defendants therefore clearly 

understand the case against them and/or are in a position to prepare their own case.  He 

argued that there was no need for the claimant to be required, as he put it, to parse the 

documents further than they have already been parsed.  

93. I accept Mr. Craig's submissions. I am satisfied that it is not necessary or proportionate 

for the claimant to be ordered to provide the further information referred to.  The 

defendants’ requests appear to me to be rhetorical in nature and designed to show that 

the pleaded propositions are not supported by the disputed documents.  Even if they 

are not rhetorical, the claimant's case is sufficiently clearly pleaded.  The defendants, 

their legal teams and experts are well capable of reading the disputed documents and 

deciding whether they accept the claimant's contentions as to what those documents 

show and of preparing their case accordingly. 

The Reply requests  

94. The requests under this heading relate to passages in the defendants' reply and defence 

to counterclaim.  The defendants' request for further information is dated 8th July 

2020.   

95. Request 1 asks a series of questions about the identity of price dislocations which are 

as follows: 

"(1) Is it the Claimant’s case that Mr Cologlu identified to the 

Defendants (or any of them) price dislocations in the market that 

had 'not been identified by other market players' (and/or market 

players other than Citadel)? 

"(2) If it is so alleged, please specify each particular price 

dislocation allegedly identified to the Defendants (or any of 

them) by Mr Cologlu, stating (in each case): (i) the date of such 

identification; (ii) the Defendant (or Defendants) to whom the 

same was identified; (iii) whether the same was identified orally 

or in writing; (iv) if orally, the 

words used in making the same (or their gist); (v) if in writing, 

the passages in the Cologlu Documents in or by which such 

price dislocations were identified; and (vi) any facts and matters 

that will be relied upon at trial in support of the allegation (if 

made) that such price dislocation had (already) been uniquely 

identified by Citadel but not by other market players.  

"(3) Please identify each and every disclosure in the Cologlu 

documents that is alleged to have saved GSA from the need to 

carry out its own 'quantitative research', specifying (in each 

case) the nature and extent of the financial and temporal saving 

said to be associated therewith."  

96. Mr Devonshire’s arguments in support of this part of his application were essentially 

the same as in relation to the items under the heading above and so is my answer.  

I accept Mr. Craig's submission that there is no need for further pleading in relation to 
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what is essentially the question “what do the disputed documents say?”  The questions 

posed by the defendants appear to me to be rhetorical.  But even if they are not, the 

defendants are well capable of reading and understanding the disputed documents and 

preparing their case accordingly.  

97. Request 2 relates to the apparent allegation of falsehood in the affidavits of Messrs. 

Ward, Muldrew, de Lioncourt and Skinner at paragraph 28(d) of the reply and defence 

to counterclaim which I have set out above.  The claimant says that they are not 

obliged to identify the respects in which it contends that those affidavits are false.  

They say that they have pleaded their inferential case at paragraph 55 of the particulars 

of claim and elsewhere as far as they can at this stage.  Their position is that in so far 

as their pleaded case overall is inconsistent with the contents of the affidavits of 

Messrs. Ward, Muldrew, de Lioncourt and Skinner, it follows that those affidavits are 

not accurate and that the claimant does not accept what is said in the relevant passages 

of those affidavits.   

98. Mr. Craig also agrees that if there is anything further which is specific in nature -- for 

example, in relation to the claimant's inferential case -- that will have to be pleaded 

after disclosure, and he resists the application for an order under this heading on that 

basis. In the course of his submissions, he indicated that the inaccuracy and/or falsity 

which the claimant has in mind includes the defendants' assertion that the information 

provided by Mr. Cologlu was not confidential in nature and is in the public domain.  

His inferential case also, of course, suggests that the claimant will seek to persuade the 

court to infer that they made more use of the information than they admit. 

99. Having considered Mr. Craig's arguments, I have concluded that the claimant should 

identify the paragraphs in the affidavits of the four individuals named, which it says 

are false or inaccurate and should briefly explain why by reference to its existing 

pleaded case or otherwise.  So that this order should not be considered vague, I will 

explain the rationale.  It does seem to me that potentially very significant reputational 

damage can be caused, particularly in this sector, by allegations of the sort under 

discussion under this heading being flung about.  I am sure that that is not what the 

pleaders of the claimant’s case are doing, but it does seem to me that the risk of 

reputational damage will be minimised if, in what are ultimately public documents, the 

claimant is specific as to any points on which it says these individuals have given 

dishonest evidence and they are therefore very clear as to the case which they are 

required to address.  Of course, the effect of so doing or being required so to do may be 

that some of the heat is taken out of the litigation.  It may also be that some narrowing 

of the issues is feasible. 

100. Request 7 seeks detailed information about the claimant's account of the negotiations 

with Mr. Taylor, which are the subject of the defendants' counterclaim.  I have very 

little hesitation in rejecting this application.  The claimant has provided an answer to 

the request and has indicated, at least in broad terms, if not more specific terms than 

that, its position in relation to this aspect of the defendants' pleaded case.  It seems to 

me that the detail and the nuances of where the parties differ as to what was said and 

done is plainly a matter of evidence which can be provided in the course of trial 

preparation if, indeed, the defendants conclude that it is worthwhile to pursue this 

aspect of the case.  So, in my view, this aspect of the claimant's case is adequately 

pleaded and it would be disproportionate to order the claimant to do more. 



MR JUSTICE LINDEN 

Approved Judgment 

Citadel Securities v GSA Capital and Ors 

 

 

Confidentiality Club  

Introduction 

101. There is a large measure of agreement as to the terms of a confidentiality protocol 

which will apply to confidential information and evidence which is disclosed, referred 

to or created this these proceedings.  That information has been divided into two 

categories.  In broad terms category 1 "restricted information" is less sensitive, 

although it remains highly confidential, and the restrictions applicable to this category 

of information are therefore less stringent.  Category 2 "restricted information" is 

subject to greater restrictions and is defined as follows:   

"5. Category 2 Restricted Information shall mean: 

a.  The unredacted 'Business Plan' dated 14 March 2019, as 

referred to at paragraph 35 of the Particulars of Claim; 

b.  The unredacted 'Trading Strategy Plan' [DDQ] dated 5 June 

2019, as referred to at paragraph 41 of the Particulars of Claim; 

c.  Unredacted Annexes to the Claimant’s Response to Part 18 

Request dated 19 March 2020 (including any amended annexes 

or draft amended annexes); 

d. Any further information which is disclosed to the Defendants 

or Dechert LLP under cover of an email or letter which states 

that such information is Category 2 Restricted Information; 

e.  Any new documents which contain information derived from 

any Category 2 Restricted Information (in whole or in part), 

including without limitation witness statements, expert reports, 

skeleton arguments or other written submissions, or 

Notes or memoranda containing such information; and 

f.  Any copies of such documents (in whole or in part); 

And shall include any of the information contained in any of 

those documents other than as set out in paragraph 6 below.” 

102. There is also a mechanism for resolving disputes as to what is or is not category 2 

information: see clause 6. 

The Issues 

103. The outstanding issues on the terms of the confidentiality protocol relate to some of the 

requirements in relation to category 2 restricted information which are sought by the 

claimant to be placed on the expert witnesses.  The defendants object to the application 

of these particular requirements to their expert, Dr. Thomas Auld.  The issues which 

are disputed, although many restrictions are agreed, are as follows:   
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i) Dr. Auld wishes to be able to work at home and to be subject to the same 

obligations as the legal teams dealing with the case. On the other hand, the 

claimant says that the relevant documents should be kept at the offices of the 

solicitors for the defendants, or the offices of a local solicitor and should be 

worked on there using a secure laptop and/or in hard copy.  Dr. Auld should 

also be supervised by a solicitor in doing so and should not make any hard copy 

notes.  Mr. Craig made clear that these requirements applied to the claimant’s 

own expert and were sought be imposed on the basis that the costs incurred in 

making the arrangements for Dr. Auld to work at a solicitor’s office and/or be 

supervised would be borne by the claimant in any event. This is “Issue 1”. 

ii) Whether Dr. Auld should give undertakings as to his future career and work.  

Here the issue is as to whether Dr. Auld should undertake to take steps which 

would minimise the risk of his sharing information with a work provider e.g. an 

employer of a client. Initially Mr Craig sought an undertaking to notify his 

client in the event that Dr Auld intended to become involved in algorithmic 

trading related work but ultimately he sought an undertaking to notify any 

prospective work provider of the terms of the protocol given that Mr 

Devonshire had indicated during the hearing that his client might be willing to 

agree to provide such an undertaking subject to argument as to its duration. 

This is “Issue 2”. 

iii) Whether Dr. Auld should give undertakings to the claimant which would have 

contractual effect as between him and the claimant on the assumption that an 

undertaking to the court could not form the basis for a claim by the claimant in 

contract. This is “Issue 3”. 

iv) The mechanics for draft reports to be communicated, and Dr. Auld's 

communications with the legal team instructed on behalf of the defendants. 

This is “Issue 4”. 

The arguments of the parties 

104. In considering the competing arguments under these headings I have taken into 

account the obvious need to preserve the confidentiality of any confidential 

information and trade secrets which are the subject of this litigation. For present 

purposes, and without in any way binding the trial judge, I accept the evidence of 

Mr. Weiner as to the claimant’s concerns about the high degree of confidentiality of 

the information which will be shared in these proceedings, the very high commercial 

value which it has, the very high level of investment in that part of the claimant's 

business which there has been and the potential impact of misuse of that information 

given that the business model is built on identifying price dislocations which the 

market has not identified.   

105. I also accept Mr. Weiner's evidence that the claimant has taken rigorous steps to 

protect the confidentiality of that information.  Merely by way of example, 

Mr. Cologlu was only one of 15 individuals in the claimant's entire global business, 

comprising in the order of 3,000 employees, who had access to the information in 

question.  There were then various other measures which were taken to ensure that 

there was no breach of confidence, whether deliberate or inadvertent, by those who had 

access to that information.   
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106. I have also considered the authorities to which I was referred, including the 

well-known judgment of Hamblen J in Libyan Investment Authority v Societe Generale 

[2015] EWHC 550.  Of particular significance in the present case are the following 

passages: 

"20. The starting point is that each party should be allowed 

unrestricted access to inspect the other parties' disclosure subject 

to the implied undertaking that the disclosure will not be used 

for a collateral purpose - see CPR31.22; Church of Scientology 

of California v Department of Health [1979] 1 WLR 723 per 

Brandon LJ at 743F. 

21. It is for the person seeking the imposition of 

a confidentiality club to justify any departure from the norm.  In 

order to do so, the proponent of the confidentiality club must 

establish that there is a real risk, either deliberate or inadvertent, 

of a party using his right of inspection for a collateral 

purpose - see the Church of Scientology case at 743G. 

22. Where it is demonstrated that there is such a risk, any 

restriction imposed should go no further than is necessary for the 

protection of the right in question.  As the Court of Appeal 

stated in Roussel UCLAF v ICI [1990] RPC 45 at 54: 

'The object to be achieved is that the applicant should have as 

full a degree of disclosure as will be consistent with the 

adequate protection of the (right).' 

.... 

34. The imposition of a confidentiality club and, if so, its terms, 

generally involves a balancing exercise.  Factors relevant to the 

exercise of the court's discretion are likely to include: 

(1) The court's assessment of the degree and severity of the 

identified risk and the threat posed by the inclusion or exclusion 

of particular individuals within the confidentiality club - see, for 

example, InterDigital Technology Corporation v Nokia [2008] 

EWHC 969 at [18] and [19]. 

(2) The inherent desirability of including at least one duly 

appointed representative of each party within a confidentiality 

club - see, for example, Warner-Lambert v Glaxo Laboratories 

[1975] RPC 354 at 359 to 361.  

(3) The importance of the confidential information to the issues 

in the case - see Roussel UCLAF v ICI at [54] and IPCom GmbH 

v HTC Europe [2013] EWHC 52 (Pat) at [20]. 

(4) The nature of the confidential information and whether it 

needs to be considered by people with access to technical or 

expert knowledge - see IPCom GmbH v HTC Europe at [18]. 
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(5) Practical considerations, such as the degree of disruption that 

will be caused if only part of a legal team is entitled to review, 

discuss and act upon the confidential information - see Roussel 

UCLAF v ICI at [54] and InterDigital Technology Corporation v 

Nokia at [7]."  

107. I was also referred to the Roussel UCLAF v ICI [1990] RPC 45 case including the 

following passage: 

"Each case has to be decided on its own facts and the broad 

principle must be that the court has the task of deciding how 

justice can be achieved taking into account the rights and needs 

of the parties. The object to be achieved is that the applicant 

should have as full a degree of disclosure as will be consistent 

with adequate protection of the secret. In so doing, the court will 

be careful not to expose a party to any unnecessary risk of its 

trade secrets leaking to or being used by competitors. What is 

necessary or unnecessary will depend upon the nature of the 

secret, the position of the parties and the extent of the disclosure 

ordered. However, it would be exceptional to prevent a party 

from access to information which would play a substantial part 

in the case as such would mean that the party would be unable to 

hear a substantial part of the case, would be unable to 

understand the reasons for the advice given to him and, in some 

cases, the reasons for the judgment. Thus, what disclosure is 

necessary entails not only practical matters arising in the 

conduct of a case but also the general position that a party 

should know the case he has to meet, should hear matters given 

in evidence and understand the reasons for the judgment." 

108. In addition to that, I was reminded of paragraph 21 of the judgment in IPCOM GMBH 

v HIT Europe Co Ltd and others [2013] EWC 52 (Pat):   

"The court does not normally operate on the basis that a party 

will wilfully misuse information disclosed to it. But it is 

recognised that disclosure of information to a party who is or 

may become involved in collateral commercial activities may 

place that party in a difficult position where there was a risk of 

use or disclosure….." 

109. Mr. Devonshire also referred me to paragraphs 27 to 42 of the judgment of Roth J in 

Infederation Limited v Google LLC and Others [2020] EWHC 657 (Ch). 

110. Finally, by way of legal materials, I was referred to the Trade Secrets (Enforcement 

etc.) Regulations 2018 and in particular Regulation 10, read in the context of recitals 

24 and 25 of the Trade Secrets Directive (EU 2016/943). 

111. Mr. Craig draws attention both to how little is known about Dr. Auld by the claimant 

or the court and to the following evidence as to what is known about Dr. Auld.    
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i) Dr. Auld describes himself as an "exceptional trader, investor and researcher" 

with a particular interest in, amongst other things, "financial market 

microstructure" and as being "available for research collaborations and 

consultancy projects." 

ii) Dr. Auld has previously worked for one of the claimant's competitors, namely 

GetCo. 

iii) Dr. Auld is close to completing what is his second PhD, the implication being 

that he may then turn his mind to pastures new and possibly a return to trading.  

In any event he trades in an independent capacity and Mr. Craig took me to 

a letter from Dr. Auld dated 14th October 2020 in which Dr. Auld did not rule 

out a return to high frequency trading.  What he said was this:  

"I write following my agreement to act as an expert witness in 

the above dispute. In the context of that dispute, I have been 

asked to provide a statement as to my current and intended 

commercial interests, including in respect of algorithmic trading.  

As I have confirmed previously, I am presently undertaking a 

PhD at the University of Cambridge in Finance and Politics, 

which I anticipate I will complete during the course of next year.  

I also undertake some teaching work, and I have some 

commercial property interests in the UK. 

In relation to algorithmic trading, I do not currently have any 

interests in or involvement in algorithmic trading in practice. I 

do not have any plans to return to the algorithmic trading 

industry, although I cannot say definitively that I will never do 

so. If I did return to the industry at any point in the future, I 

would be highly unlikely to seek a role which would involve 

working directly on trading strategies."   

iv) Dr. Auld's hourly rate is approximately £800 an hour, and Mr Craig suggests 

that it is reasonable to infer from this that sums of at this level are earned by 

means other than academic work and that Dr Auld may, in the consultancy 

projects for which he says publicly he is available, be at least potentially 

involved in algorithmic trading or other related activities. 

v) Finally, Mr. Craig emphasises that very little is known by the claimant or the 

court about Dr. Auld and nothing is known about his home setting.   

112. I emphasise, as Mr. Craig did, that none of these points is relied on to suggest any lack 

of integrity on the part of Dr. Auld and nor is there any such evidence before the court.  

The concern which Mr. Craig was seeking to illustrate was about the risk of 

inadvertent use or disclosure, or Dr. Auld being placed in an awkward situation in the 

context of future work, where temptation or conflicts of interest may arise.   

113. More broadly I understood Mr. Craig to be making the point that given that the 

claimant goes to great lengths, in the context of its own workplace and its own 

workforce, to protect the confidentiality of the information for the reasons which 

I have summarised, it is unsurprising that it is unwilling for that information, or at least 
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a significant aspect of that information, to be provided to Dr. Auld or anyone else for 

that matter without significant measures being taken to protect its confidentiality. In 

particular, it would be unreasonable to expect such information to be provided to him 

on the basis that he would have the information in his possession unsupervised and 

would work in a home environment about the security of which nothing is known by 

the claimant. 

114. Mr. Devonshire, for his part, draws attention to the practical impact of the disputed 

restrictions.  He emphasises that the burden is on the party seeking to limit inspection 

by the other party to the litigation to demonstrate the necessity for the restrictions 

proposed. Mr. Devonshire also rightly emphasises that these sorts of measures are 

exceptional and should be limited to what is absolutely necessary to achieve fairness 

between the parties and in particular fairness in terms of protecting the confidentiality 

of the information which is involved in the litigation. 

Issue 1  

115. My conclusion on this issue is that the restrictions proposed by the claimant should be 

applied. I have outlined what is proposed, above.  Importantly, it does not involve 

additional cost to the defendants.  I understand and accept from Mr. Craig that the 

same approach is being applied to Professor Clifford, the claimant's expert.  An issue 

was raised about the ability of Dr. Auld to communicate with the solicitors instructed 

on behalf of the defendants but, ultimately, I understood it to be agreed that that issue 

could easily be resolved. 

116. Mr. Devonshire was to some extent facing a case that was moving towards him rather 

than away from him when the application relating to this issue was made. On the 

footing that ultimately what was being said was that Dr. Auld should work in a local 

solicitor's office using methods which are secure and leaving the documents in a secure 

environment, ultimately, I was not persuaded that there were any practical objections 

which outweighed the need for data security and warranted my rejecting the proposed 

restriction.   

117. Ultimately, Mr. Devonshire's objection was that Dr. Auld might wish to work outside 

office hours and/or might have thoughts about the case in the bath or elsewhere but 

would not be able to write them down without creating category 2 restricted 

information and, as a result, being in breach of the protocol.  These seemed to me to be 

issues that could readily be overcome from a practical point of view. For example, as 

Mr. Craig pointed out, in this type of event if he needed to, Dr. Auld could phone the 

solicitors instructed on behalf of the defendants and ask them to make a note or check a 

point. In so far as he wished to work out of hours, I anticipate that arrangements could 

be made.  I also note in this connection that if real practical difficulties do arise, the 

confidentiality protocol provides for applications to vary. 

Issue 2 

118. As I have indicated, the issue under this heading was in broad terms as to a mechanism 

that would provide safeguards in the event that, quite properly, Dr. Auld had a change 

of heart or decided that he wished to move back into algorithmic trading or related 

work.  Initially, the proposal was that he should undertake to notify the claimant of any 

intention to take up such an appointment.  That proposal, following constructive 
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discussions between the parties, was modified so that Dr. Auld agreed that he would be 

prepared to provide an undertaking to show the undertakings into which he had entered 

under the confidentiality protocol to any prospective work provider.   

119. The issue therefore narrowed to the question for how long he should be under such an 

obligation.  Mr. Devonshire contended that the period should be not longer than one 

year.  The basis for this contention was that Mr. Cologlu, a central figure in relation to 

the relevant strategy was, under his contract of employment, subject to a notification 

requirement, in the event that he was to take up alternative and related work, which 

applied for a year.  Accordingly, Mr. Devonshire proposed that the period should be 

one year from the last point at which Dr. Auld had any involvement in the case.  

120. Mr. Craig contended for a period of five years.  He said that this was on the basis that, 

of course, Dr. Auld is not and never has been an employee of the claimant.  The 

claimant, therefore, has not had the opportunity to scrutinise him in the way that it 

would do a recruited employee or to vet that employee from the point of view of 

security; accordingly, the period should be five years.  I pressed Mr. Craig to say 

whether there was any particular rationale for the five-year period, and there is no 

criticism of him, but he was not able to do so.  He maintained that the information 

would remain confidential far beyond the five-year period so that the “shelf life” of the 

information was not ultimately part of the rationale for the five-year proposal. 

121. Doing the best, I can, I have come to the conclusion that the undertaking should last for 

a period of two years from the last point at which Dr. Auld has any involvement in the 

case.  I reach that view on a very broad-brush approach. Essentially it is my best guess 

as to how long, given the other safeguards in the confidentiality protocol which prevent 

any retention of the documents, notes etc, it can it reasonably be expected that Dr. 

Auld would retain important details of the relevant trading strategy in his head such 

that possession of that information would then potentially pose a threat in the event 

that he accepted work or related work from another work provider.  So that is my 

ruling on Issue 2. 

Issue 3 

122. Issue 3, as I have said, is whether in addition to the undertakings to the court Dr. Auld 

should give undertakings to the claimant which would be contractual in effect.  I have 

come to the conclusion that he should not be required to do this. 

123. In my view, the undertakings to the court which Dr Auld will give and which are 

extensive and detailed and, more importantly, underpinned by the threat of criminal 

sanction in the event of breach, are sufficient to discourage him from any conduct 

which might give rise to the risk of the confidential information being leaked. I do not 

consider that contractual undertakings are necessary or proportionate in the 

circumstances of this case.  

124. Mr. Craig asks the questions, "What difference does it make if he is going to comply 

with the undertakings in any event?  If he is going to comply with the undertakings, 

then why does it matter?  If he is going to breach them why should the claimant not 

have a claim in damages?".  In my view, the answer is that the threat of criminal 

sanction does have the requisite deterrent or cautionary effect.  The more serious the 

breach of the undertakings in the protocol and/or the consequences of such breach, the 
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greater the likely criminal sanction against Dr. Auld. Any committal for contempt 

would between him and the claimant. On the other hand, the addition of contractual 

obligations is likely to have a chilling effect on his willingness to give evidence.  

Concerns which he might well entertain include that contractual claims based on the 

protocol, against him and/or a prospective employer, might be brought in due course, 

whether meritorious ones or otherwise, and such claims or the threat of such claims 

might then blight his future career.  These are not, I stress, bright line answers but 

matters I take into account when coming to a conclusion as a matter of discretion that 

overall, he should not be required to give additional contractual undertakings. 

Issue 4 

125. In relation to Issue 4, the practicalities of communications between Dr. Auld and the 

defendants' legal team, as I understand it, those issues are resolved by my rulings on 

Issue 1, or at least will be capable of resolution by a sensible approach on all sides and 

by use of technology. 

Conclusion 

126. The confidentiality protocol will now be finalised in the light of my rulings and 

submitted for my approval in the usual way. 

Costs budgeting 

127. Given my ruling on the sampling approach, the parties sought permission to revise 

their budgets before submitting them for approval and I agreed with this course. An 

agreed direction on this question will be submitted for my approval. 

Timetable and directions for trial 

128. These were agreed in the light of my decision, following a short adjournment. The 

proposed directions will be submitted for my approval in the usual way. 

- - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

 


